


From:
To:

plans, maps for Mulgoa and Wallacia?
Date: Wednesday, 27 March 2019 12:25:20 PM

---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: 
Date: Tue, 3 Jul 2018 14:50
Subject: Koala  conservation plans, maps for Mulgoa and Wallacia?
To: Australian Koala Foundation 

Thank you again Aaron for speaking with me this morning and in advance for forwarding this request to Dave
 for AKF IP permission to hopefully prepare a map from your database of Koala conservation management
 planning for Mulgoa and Wallacia country communities, rural villages.

I remember my father saying that there were koala at "Grove Farm", 2595 Silverdale Road,
 Baines Hill, Wallacia (a NSW Government Gazetted nature reserve from the C19th
 colony) up until WWII when I recall at age 54, from my 85yo father's oral history, another
 Blue Mountains bushfire wiped that population out. 

Several of us are excited to recently learn of koala sightings being recorded after over half
 a century, around the rural village of Mulgoa so as we're mindful of the conservation
 value of nearby Wallacia Golf Course becoming another proposed 88000 cemetery, 2-
3bodies deep (ie 176000-264000 bodies) over these next 140 years with two crematoria
 belching mercury and other heavy metals (such as radioactive isotopes from radiation
 treatments) also bodily fluids leaching into the surrounding soil profile then epi- and
 benthic aquatic flora and fauna, many of us are naturally very concerned about Jerry's
 Creek valley and Upper Nepean Catchment management at and for Wallacia thus
 downstream through the Nepean Gorge to Penrith then Richmond, Windsor Hawkesbury
 River Catchment. 

I hope you appreciate the key , koala  are as another arboreal marsupial environmental
 indicator as well as internationally significant species demoted on Australia's $200 gold
 coin?

Sincerely appreciative

Matthew Fowler BSc UWoll 1988



From:

 

 
 

Subject: WPA Golf Course EIS & was 1873 the highest flood level recorded, does that also have legal significance?
Date: Wednesday, 27 March 2019 12:27:55 PM

Dear WPA MC, particularly Darrell, etal

I heard Darrell (and others) speak again at our last Special Community Meeting of the
 various flood events in living memory. While Darrell obviously has an excellent
 community memory, the highest flood level recorded, 1873 flood that Billy Baines
 marked with a brass plaque on a sandstone square block at "Grove Farm", in addition to
 the frog mark carved into the pole at the old barn, former Nepean Valley Museum.

Record Floods | NSW State Emergency Service
February 1873
Gauge: Wallacia Weir
Peak Height: 20.62m
https://www.ses.nsw.gov.au/local-region-information/swr/record-floods/

What concerns me is that our WPA MC, despite having a lawyer, hasn't clearly
 communicated our legal duties of care in terms of 1 in 100 and 1 in 1000 year
 flood level environmental hazard/s as another country community.

Likewise, the 17m raising of Warragamba Dam Wall has not been properly dealt with in
 their EIS as ongoing community concerns demonstrate at,
https://m.facebook.com/groups/203820906933981/permalink/327249564591114/

Our Intergovernmental Committee
http://www.icsm.gov.au/

https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/High_water_mark refers to legal significance.

For example,

In the United States, the high water mark is also significant because the United
 States Constitution gives Congress the authority to legislate for waterways, and
 the high water mark is used to determine the geographic extent of that authority.
 Federal regulations (33 CFR 328.3(e)) define the "ordinary high water mark"
 (OHWM) as "that line on the shore established by the fluctuations of water and
 indicated by physical characteristics such as a clear, natural line impressed on
 the bank, shelving, changes in the character of soil, destruction of terrestrial
 vegetation, the presence of litter and debris, or other appropriate means that
 consider the characteristics of the surrounding areas.[10]For the purposes of
 Section 404 of the Clean Water Act, the OHWM defines the lateral limits of
 federal jurisdiction over non-tidal water bodies in the absence of adjacent
 wetlands. For the purposes of Sections 9 and 10 of the Rivers and Harbors Act of



 1899, the OHWM defines the lateral limits of federal jurisdiction over traditional
 navigable waters of the US.[11] The OHWM is used by the United States Army
 Corps of Engineers, the United States Environmental Protection Agency, and
 other federal agencies to determine the geographical extent of their regulatory
 programs. Likewise, many states use similar definitions of the OHWM for the
 purposes of their own regulatory programs.

In 2016, the Court of Appeals of Indiana ruled that land below the OHWM (as
 defined by common law) along Lake Michigan is held by the state in trust for
 public use. [12]
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Philippa Vale

From:
Sent: Wednesday, 27 March 2019 12:27 PM
To:  

 
 

Subject: WPA Golf Course EIS & was 1873 the highest flood level recorded, does that also have legal 
significance?

Dear WPA MC, particularly Darrell, etal 
 
I heard Darrell (and others) speak again at our last Special Community Meeting of the various flood events in living 
memory. While Darrell obviously has an excellent community memory, the highest flood level recorded, 1873 flood 
that Billy Baines marked with a brass plaque on a sandstone square block at "Grove Farm", in addition to the frog 
mark carved into the pole at the old barn, former Nepean Valley Museum. 
 
Record Floods | NSW State Emergency Service 
February 1873 
Gauge: Wallacia Weir 
Peak Height: 20.62m 
https://www.ses.nsw.gov.au/local-region-information/swr/record-floods/ 
 
What concerns me is that our WPA MC, despite having a lawyer, hasn't clearly communicated our legal 
duties of care in terms of 1 in 100 and 1 in 1000 year flood level environmental hazard/s as another country 
community. 
 
Likewise, the 17m raising of Warragamba Dam Wall has not been properly dealt with in their EIS as ongoing 
community concerns demonstrate at, 
https://m.facebook.com/groups/203820906933981/permalink/327249564591114/ 
 
Our Intergovernmental Committee 
http://www.icsm.gov.au/ 
 
https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/High water mark refers to legal significance. 
 
For example, 

In the United	States, the high water mark is also significant because the United	States	Constitution 

gives Congress the authority to legislate for waterways, and the high water mark is used to 

determine the geographic extent of that authority. Federal regulations (33 CFR 328.3(e)) define 

the "ordinary high water mark" (OHWM) as "that line on the shore established by the fluctuations 

of water and indicated by physical characteristics such as a clear, natural line impressed on the 

bank, shelving, changes in the character of soil, destruction of terrestrial vegetation, the presence 

of litter and debris, or other appropriate means that consider the characteristics of the surrounding 
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areas.[10]For the purposes of Section 404 of the Clean	Water	Act, the OHWM defines the lateral 

limits of federal jurisdiction over non-tidal water bodies in the absence of adjacent wetlands. For 

the purposes of Sections 9 and 10 of the Rivers	and	Harbors	Act	of	1899, the OHWM defines the 

lateral limits of federal jurisdiction over traditional navigable waters of the US.[11] The OHWM is 

used by the United	States	Army	Corps	of	Engineers, the United	States	Environmental	Protection	

Agency, and other federal agencies to determine the geographical extent of their regulatory 

programs. Likewise, many states use similar definitions of the OHWM for the purposes of their 

own regulatory programs. 

In 2016, the Court of Appeals of Indiana ruled that land below the OHWM (as defined by common 

law) along Lake Michigan is held by the state in trust for public use. [12] 
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Philippa Vale

From:
Sent: Monday, 4 March 2019 6:59 PM
To:  

 
 

 

I was surprised to learn (pers comm) last Sunday (yesterday) that there were platypus seen at the Jerry's Creek 
mouth onto the Upper Nepean River by "Dick" (Richard) Dunbar (by Silverdale Road, Wallacia) about a decade ago. 
 
Dick's late father‐in‐law "Harry" Cross's place at Water Street, Wallacia borders lower Jerry's Creek. Wollondilly Shire 
Council Deputy Mayor and North Ward Cr said that he saw platypus in Nepean Gorge 2‐3 years ago. 
 
Sincerely 
 
Matthew Fowler BSc UWoll 1988 
Figtree Networks ‐ continuing mission since 1996 'community synergy through community, professional & personal 
development'  

 
 
P Please consider the environment before printing this email 
Caveat lector ‐ there may be unintentional errors or omissions, any  
corrections or other constructive contributions would be gratefully  
received. WITHOUT PREJUDICE ‐ ALL RIGHTS RESERVED 

 
 

‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ Forwarded message ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
From:   
Date: Fri, 18 Apr 2008 at 22:04 
Subject: RE: Nepean River platypus 
To:   
 

Dear Matthew, 

A nice try, but the river is too polluted. I think the platypus were once in the pool at the bottom of 
the weir where I took you all to swim. You might remember that we used to walk across the weir to 
get to it? It was the same sandy beach where we saw the brush-tail wallaby having a drink at dusk 
one evening. 

Love, Dad 

-----Original Message----- 
From:   
Sent: Friday, 18 April 2008 7:20 PM 
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Philippa Vale

From:
Sent: Sunday, 7 April 2019 1:03 AM
To: IPCN Enquiries Mailbox
Subject: Holt Family Fellowship - General Joseph Holt's Notice Board

"Hotel Wallacia against the skyline, built on portion of John Fowler's former sorghum 
paddock by Keith Fowler with Toohey's Brewery Ltd in 1936. Modelled on the Banff 
Hotel tourist experience, it was envisaged that it would become 'The 19th hole' for his 
Wallacia Golf Links and Club." 
http://joseph‐holt.org/wallacia post office centenary.php gives some indication as to Dad's previous 
communications, prior to his stroke. 



1

Philippa Vale

From:
Sent: Tuesday, 2 April 2019 11:42 AM
To:  

Subject: I watched, "What a Narcissist Says to You Is NOT as Important as How They Say It" on YouTube

https://youtu.be/ yi7CEiX638 
 
Does this relate to Bernard Bratusa & Panthers promises? 
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On Monday, 4 March 2019, 7:01:04 pm AEDT, :  
 
 
I was surprised to learn (pers comm) last Sunday (yesterday) that there were platypus seen at the Jerry's Creek 
mouth onto the Upper Nepean River by "Dick" (Richard) Dunbar (by Silverdale Road, Wallacia) about a decade ago.
 
Dick's late father-in-law "Harry" Cross's place at Water Street, Wallacia borders lower Jerry's Creek. Wollondilly 
Shire Council Deputy Mayor and North Ward Cr said that he saw platypus in Nepean Gorge 2-3 years ago. 
 
Sincerely 
 
Matthew Fowler BSc UWoll 1988 
Figtree Networks - continuing mission since 1996 'community synergy through community, professional & personal 
development'  

 
 
P Please consider the environment before printing this email 
Caveat lector - there may be unintentional errors or omissions, any  
corrections or other constructive contributions would be gratefully  
received. WITHOUT PREJUDICE - ALL RIGHTS RESERVED 

 
 

---------- Forwarded message --------- 
From:  
Date: Fri, 18 Apr 2008 at 22:04 
Subject: RE: Nepean River platypus 
To:  
 

Dear Matthew, 

A nice try, but the river is too polluted. I think the platypus were once in the pool at the bottom of 
the weir where I took you all to swim. You might remember that we used to walk across the weir 
to get to it? It was the same sandy beach where we saw the brush-tail wallaby having a drink at 
dusk one evening. 

Love, Dad 

-----Original Message----- 
From:   
Sent: Friday, 18 April 2008 7:20 PM 
To: APC; FOWLER 
Subject: Re: Nepean River platypus 

Thank you Geoff 

Do let me know if there is more information you think we could provide. 

Do you think then that it is possible for the reintroduction of platypus to the Nepean River above the 
Wallacia weir and thus help our national biodiversity and environmental indicators? 

Cheers, Matthew 

On 18/04/2008, :  

Hi Matthew, 
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To  
Cc: FOWLER; Matthew Fowler 
Subject: Nepean River Wallacia weir water rats c1980 
 
Dear Australian Platypus Conservancy 
 
I just saw your contact at 
http://www.abc.net.au/science/articles/2007/10/04/2185999.htm?site=science/s 
cribblygum 
The secret life of water rats By Rachel Sullivan and note your 
Australian Platypus Conservancy website http://www.platypus.asn.au/ 
Recent reliable sightings of Australian water-rats can be reported to 
the Australian Platypus Conservancy, including details of when and 
where the animal was seen. The information will be added to a 
computerised data base, thereby contributing to our understanding of 
the ecology of both water-rats and platypus! 
 
As an adolescent I grew up on my father's farm by the Nepean River 
with water rats foraging around the bank about 500m upstream from the 
Wallacia Weir c1980 while fishing overnight. 
 
I have heard from my father that platypus used to live there too but 
we haven't sighted any in decades. 
 
Kind regards, Matthew Fowler BSc 



1

Philippa Vale

From:
Sent: Tuesday, 5 March 2019 6:39 PM
To:

 
 

MP Mulgoa, 
NSW; WPA Hon Secretary Margaret Stepniewski; todd.carney@nswlabor.org.au

Subject: Re: wild orchid response from cmct consultants for da

No, I had not Jane, thank you. 
This is another example of why I have been consistently going on about holding a writing workshop at WPHall these 
last 12 months. I have to respect, naturally dislike this social isolationist, text based communication approach. 
 
As you should be aware by now, I'm much more positively stimulated by working with others who want to be 
positively worked with. 
 
I hope both WPA & MPA seriously accept Tanya Davies stated invitation required for her to revisit both our Halls. 
Clearly as my father said to me in the early 1980s, we need to represent ourselves to our democratically elected 
representatives otherwise they're not in a position to represent us. 
 
I don't know who's going to be our Mulgoa MP however I seriously hope that whoever does accept both HM's 
honour and bottom line responsibilities, a far more positive future for generations to come will in actual fact 
become where reality is not just more politicised rhetoric. We know that we're hurting as another country 
community of rural villagers. 
 
There's so much that could, should've been done however I hope that better late than never applies. 
 
Cousin Peter Metcalfe who collected the unnamed, undescribed, endemic Diuris sp Donkey, ground (terrestrial) 
orchid just told me he "sent off" the orchid for "genetic analysis" so we hopefully will see some sort of response in 
due course. 
 
With years of mowing the 13th fairway, it's as I mentioned last night, conceivably extinct however "extinct" spp have 
been rediscovered so I don't know and we in community, particularly Golf Club members, could, should be actively 
interested, perhaps something our Mulgoa Valley Landcare Group could champion as well? 
 
I'm very tired, brain and bodily drained by everything weighing on my mind at present. I hope to regenerate asap. 
 
 
Sincerely, Matthew 
 
 
On Tue, 5 Mar 2019 17:20 Wallacia Progress   wrote: 
Hi Matthew, 
 
I have noticed you constantly refer to the wild orchid in many meetings. 
Are you aware of the cmct responce in da from a hired consultant Travers dated 31.10.18. This is found on the ipc 
website.  
There you might find the answer to your questions. 
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Note: There are a lot more reports on their for you to view and write to the ipc about your findings that are a 
concern. 
See attachment. 
 
Regards 
Jane 
Always for our community! 
 
‐‐  
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

 



Relationship of Sediment Toxicants and Water Quality to the Distribution of Platypus
Populations in Urban Streams
Author(s): Melody Serena and Vincent Pettigrove
Source: Journal of the North American Benthological Society, Vol. 24, No. 3 (Sep., 2005), pp.
679-689
Published by: Society for Freshwater Science
Stable URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/4095689 

Accessed: 25/06/2013 15:39

Your use of the JSTOR archive indicates your acceptance of the Terms & Conditions of Use, available at 
http://www.jstor.org/page/info/about/policies/terms.jsp

 
JSTOR is a not-for-profit service that helps scholars, researchers, and students discover, use, and build upon a wide range of
content in a trusted digital archive. We use information technology and tools to increase productivity and facilitate new forms
of scholarship. For more information about JSTOR, please contact support@jstor.org.

 

Society for Freshwater Science is collaborating with JSTOR to digitize, preserve and extend access to Journal
of the North American Benthological Society.

http://www.jstor.org 
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When Sydney becomes an inland sea, we’ll need the pool 

Melinda Howes, CEO, Actuaries Institute 
19 March 2012 

 

Large parts of Sydney are built on a floodplain - a fact that many Sydneysiders don’t want to 
know and don’t want to hear. Flood experts, hydrologists, the SES and others have been warning 
for years that a major flood in Sydney is a disaster waiting to happen.  

Last week as we watched scenes of devastation in Wagga Wagga and the Riverina, it’s easy to 
think that this cannot happen here. We’re in a major capital city. We’re safe. Surely housing for 
tens of thousands of Sydneysiders would not have been built on a flood plain. Would it? This is 
exactly what has happened in Sydney in recent decades of development.  

So what is the problem, and what should we be doing about it? 

 

A major flood can and will happen in Sydney 

A search of publicly available material about Sydney and flood risk paints a sobering picture. 

The Hawkesbury-Nepean River is one of the major river systems in NSW, and the unique 
topography of the 22,000km catchment area (from Goulburn in the south and almost to 
Singleton in the north west with only one outlet at Broken Bay) means that water flows into the 
valley at a far higher rate than it can flow out. An East Coast Low Pressure System over Sydney 
(like last week) with exceptionally heavy rain over several days can lead to severe, and very 
deep, flooding. Hydrologists tell us that:  

“The narrowing of the valley downstream at Castlereagh controls the flow of water between the 
wide floodplain at Penrith and the even larger floodplain at North Richmond and Wilberforce. 
The flow of water is restricted by the narrow gorges downstream of Wilberforce which act like a 
bottleneck and result in backing up of floodwater producing flooding much deeper than on a 
typical coastal river in NSW.” 1

The SES Emergency plan

 

2

So at some point we are likely to experience a major flood in Sydney. It will be deep, and it will 
affect a very built-up area. 

 says the primary floodplain is mostly located within the Penrith, 
Hawkesbury, Blacktown and Baulkham Hills local government areas. It goes on to say that the 
main area of urban development in the Hawkesbury-Nepean Valley is in the primary floodplain, 
with distinct sub-floodplain areas in Camden, Wallacia, Emu Plains/Castlereagh and the largest 
at Richmond/Windsor/Wilberforce. 

                                                   

1 Reconciling development with flood risks: the Hawkesbury-Nepean dilemma, by Catherine Gillespie, Paul Grech & Drew Bewsher, 

Australian Journal of Emergency Management, Autumn 2002. 

2 NSW SES, 2005. Hawkesbury/Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan, 2005. Hawkesbury/Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan, NSW 

State Disaster Plan (State DISPLAN). 
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Several of the most severe floods experienced on the Hawkesbury-Nepean River have resulted 
from East Coast Low Pressure Systems. Among these was the highest recorded flood of June 
1867. This flood was also the worst in terms of lives lost and the destruction of property and 
livestock. 

The Sydney Morning Herald published on 24 June 1867 reported: 

“The flood in this district is said to be by far the highest which has occurred since its settlement by 
Europeans. The town of Windsor itself is almost entirely submerged, and the country for miles 
around is under water. The expanse of flood is so great, that everybody is astonished at the 
tremendous accumulation of water, and it will seem incredible to all who have not actually seen 
it. Places which since the settlement of the colony, have never known to be flooded are now 
lost to view. The plain on which Windsor is partly situated unites with South Creek and Eastern 
Creek to form a vast inland sea over the surface of which when the wind has been high the 
broken crested billows roll with as much force and volume as they do during moderately squally 
weather in Sydney Harbour. A boat may now be taken through deep water from Riverstone to 
the Blue Mountains - a distance of about 15 miles; and from Hall's at Pitt Town to the Kurrajong - 
some twenty miles.” 

The mid blue section on this map shows the 1867 flood: 
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Source: NSW SES, 2005. Hawkesbury/Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan, 2005. 
Hawkesbury/Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan, NSW State Disaster Plan (State 
DISPLAN). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

But what about Warragamba dam, built in 1960 – won’t it save us from a major flood? The 
Sydney catchment Authority website says: 

“Some believe that Warragamba Dam...protects the Hawkesbury-Nepean Valley from flooding. 
In fact, Warragamba was never designed as a flood mitigation dam… it can only mitigate 
floods to a limited extent.”3

In fact the second and third highest recorded floods for river were experienced just after 
Warragamba was built in November 1961 and June 1964. In the 141 years from 1867 to 2005 
there were 11 major floods – an average of 1 every 13 years. 

 

 

Major Floods in the Valley: Year  Height at Windsor (m AHD) 
1867 19.20 
1961  15.00  
1964  14.60  
1864  14.40  
1978  14.30  
1956  13.61  
1870  13.49  
1990  13.36  
1879  12.98  
1988  12.65  
1873  12.50  
1949  11.96  

Source: NSW SES, 2005, Hawkesbury/Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan, NSW State Disaster Plan (State DISPLAN). 

  

                                                   
3 http://www.sca.nsw.gov.au/dams-and-water/major-sca-dams/warragamba-dam/warragamba-a-dam-full-of-myths 
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So for western Sydney:  

Table 2 - Flood Frequency 
Probability 

Wallacia Flood Level 
(at Blaxland Bridge)  

m AHD 

Penrith Flood Level  
(at Victoria Bridge)  

m AHD 

Windsor Flood Level 
(at Windsor Bridge)  

m AHD 
 1 in 5 years = 20% 36.8 20.1 11.1 
1 in 20 years = 5%  42.5 23.4 13.7 
1 in 100 years = 1%  45.8 26.1 17.3 

The 1867 flood, now estimated 
probability of 
1 in 170 = 0.4% 

 26.1-26.9 19.2 

Source: NSW SES, 2005. Hawkesbury/Nepean Flood Emergency Sub Plan, 2005. Hawkesbury/Nepean Flood Emergency 
Sub Plan, NSW State Disaster Plan (State DISPLAN). 

Local Councils plan their development around the 1 in 100 year flood level – they use a depth of 
17.3m at Windsor, and 26.1m at Penrith. Below this level, development controls are put in place, 
as can be seen in this diagram for Windsor, which also shows as red dots all the recorded floods: 

 

 
Source: Managing Flood Risk Through Planning Opportunities - Guidance on Land Use Planning In Flood Prone Areas, 
prepared for the Hawkesbury-Nepean Floodplain Management Steering Committee, June 2006. 
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The problem, as stated by flood risk consultants, is that “Above the 100 year level, it is assumed, 
wrongly, by the general community that the land is ‘flood free’.”4

The paper goes on to say that: 

 Most Councils do not have 
development controls above the 100 year flood level, although as shown above there is 
continuing risk above this level. 

“Windsor and Richmond are now thriving urban centres... Expansion in the 1980's and 1990's with 
the new suburb of Bligh Park has resulted in a total population of 35,000 in Windsor, Richmond 
South Windsor and Bligh Park. Parts of Penrith, Emu Plains and Riverstone are all major urban 
areas with growing populations. All are vulnerable to Hawkesbury-Nepean flooding.” 

This problem is not confined to Sydney – it’s national. There are examples of inappropriate 
development all over Australia. For example, the Insurance Council of Australia states that 
“many thousands of residential properties on Queensland’s Gold Coast have been authorised 
and constructed in locations that place them at extreme risk of catastrophic flooding and 
coastal inundation.”5

The highest risk properties are uninsurable for flood – for this 2-3% of dwellings it’s not a possibility 
that they will be flooded, it’s a certainty. It is best to let the insurance market operate freely 
where it can, but insurance doesn’t work in these circumstances because the cost to insure 
these properties is unaffordable. If these properties go uninsured, the next time there is a major 
flood, the damage will be extensive and the problem of how to pay for that damage will come 
up once again.  

 

The cost of insuring flood prone properties must be brought down to an affordable level and a 
national problem requires a national solution. Most commentators (including the Actuaries 
Institute) believe that the long term focus needs to be the mitigation of flood risk.  However in 
the short term a solution is required to the cost of insuring high risk properties.  The Insurance 
Council of Australia wants the Government to pay direct amounts to householders and business 
owners in flood-prone areas to subsidise their insurance premiums. The Actuaries Institute 
believes that a national funding pool should be set up temporarily to subsidise the cost of 
insuring high risk properties. 

A temporary national pool 

The underlying cause of potential flood losses, inappropriate development, needs to be 
addressed as a priority.  The Government needs to mitigate the risk of flood through measures 
such as revising current building codes, building or improving dams and levees, re-location of 
high risk properties, and renovations to existing buildings and infrastructure.  Every dollar spent in 
mitigation can save many dollars in future loss payments.   

Even if mitigation action starts immediately, it will take 10-15 years to fully implement and 
become effective.  In the interim, the Actuaries Institute recommends government intervention 
in the market via a temporary national pool for high risk properties, which will facilitate 
government subsidy of insurance premiums for those in high risk areas.  Currently these high risk 

                                                   
4 Reconciling development with flood risks: the Hawkesbury-Nepean dilemma, by Catherine Gillespie, Paul Grech & Drew Bewsher, 

Australian Journal of Emergency Management, Autumn 2002. 

 

5 “Improving Community Resilience to Extreme Weather Events”, Insurance Council of Australia, April 2008. 
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property owners or tenants either cannot obtain home and contents cover for flood at all, or 
such cover is prohibitively expensive. 

In order for these flood mitigation solutions to be successful, local Councils and State 
Governments must be encouraged to, and rewarded for, undertaking flood mitigation. Councils 
and Governments need to have “skin in the game” – to have a vested interest in the outcome. 
The pool can help achieve this.   

The Natural Disaster Insurance Review Inquiry into flood insurance recommended in its report last 
September that “an agency sponsored by the Commonwealth Government be created to 
manage the national coordination of flood risk management and to operate a system of 
premium discounts and a flood risk reinsurance facility, supported by a funding guarantee from 
the Commonwealth.”  The Federal Government will be consulting on this recommendation later 
this year. 

The Actuaries Institute believes that a funding pool will be more successful than direct premiums 
subsidies from the Government for a number of reasons. 

1. The pool encourages actions to reduce risk – the pool would subsidise premiums but it 
would only do so for homes in areas where the local Council and State Government is 
carrying out flood mitigation measures.  This is the key – tying premium subsidies to 
incentives to reduce the flood risk in future. 

2. A national pool can do more than just reduce premiums – any leftover funds can also 
provide funding to help State Governments and Councils pay for risk mitigation activities 
which are otherwise very expensive.  

3. When floods occur, the pool can pay out the owners of affected properties where the 
flood risk is so high that the properties are effectively uninsurable. Having the pool pay out 
those high risk properties when floods happen rather than trying to insure them, means 
that insurance premiums will be less expensive, because the insurer is no longer covering 
those extreme risks.  

4. A direct premium subsidy will only make payments to people who are currently insured. 
But many people are not insured, perhaps because insurance has already become too 
expensive. A pool would also pay out to uninsured people in high risk properties. 

There are lots of options to create funding for such a pool, some of which were explored after 
Cyclone Tracy.  For example funding could come from a combination of a small levy on 
property premiums, a small levy on local Councils, perhaps payments from property developers, 
and some Government support.  Ideally the pool would be self-funding, and provide funds for 
mitigation which will decrease future losses. 

Over time as the number of high risk properties is reduced, the need for a Government pool will 
also be reduced. The Actuaries Institute advocates that the pool be wound down over time as 
the insurance market is able to operate effectively.

 






